Councillors

Thompson (Mayor), Dogus (Deputy Mayor), Adamou, Adje, Alexander, Amin, Baker, Basu, Beacham, Bevan, Butcher, Canver, Cooke, Davies, Diakides, Dobbie, Dodds, Edge, Egan, Engert, Gorrie, Griffith, Haley, Hare, B. Harris, C. Harris, Hoban, Jones, Rahman Khan, Knight, Kober, Lister, Mallett, Meehan, Mughal, Newton, Oakes, Oatway, Patel, Peacock, Reid, Reith, Santry, Vanier, Whyte, Williams, Wilson and Winskill

Apologies Councillor Aitken, Beynon, Bloch, Bull, Demirci and Weber

Absent: Councillor Rainger and Stanton

MINUTE ACTION NO. SUBJECT/DECISION BY

CNCL77. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Bob Harris and for absence from Councillors Aitken, Beynon, Bloch, Bull, Demirci and Weber. CNCL78. TO ASK THE MAYOR TO CONSIDER THE ADMISSION OF ANY LATE ITEMS OF BUSINESS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 100B OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 See minutes 81 & 88. CNCL79. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Members were asked by the Mayor to declare any personal interest in respect of items on the agenda. In accordance with Part 2 of the Members Code of Conduct set out in the Council's Constitution, any Member disclosing a personal interest which was also prejudicial would be asked to withdraw from the Chamber during consideration of the item and neither were they to seek to improperly influence a decision on the said item. Councillor Meehan declared a personal interest in Item 12 - Financial Planning as a Freedom Pass Holder. Councillor Winskill declared a personal interest in Item 12 – Financial Planning as he was a Leaseholder within the Borough and also that a relative was a user of facilities provided by Social Services. Councillor Adje declared a personal interest in Item 12 - Financial

Planning as he was an employee of the London Fire and Emergency

Planning Authority for which a portion of the precept was paid to.

Councillor Butcher declared a personal interest in Item 12 - Financial planning, as he was an appointed Member of the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority for which a portion of the precept was paid to and was a joint leaseholder of a Homes for Haringey property.

Councillor Peacock declared a personal interest in Item 12 - Financial Planning as a Freedom Pass Holder.

Councillor Mallett declared a personal interest in Item 12 - Financial Planning as she was carer in the Borough.

Councillor Patel declared a personal interest in Item 12 - Financial Planning as a Freedom Pass Holder.

Councillor Lister declared a personal interest in Item 12 - Financial Planning as he was employed as a full time official of Unison.

CNCL80. TO ASK MEMBERS WHETHER THEY NEED TO MAKE A **DECLARATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 106 OF THE** LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE ACT IN RELATION TO UNPAID COMMUNITY CHARGE OR COUNCIL TAX LIABILITY WHICH IS TWO MONTHS OR MORE OUTSTANDING.

Members were reminded of the need to consider whether they needed to make a declaration in accordance with Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 in relation to unpaid community charge or council tax liability, which was two months or more outstanding.

No such declarations were made.

CNCL81. TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 21 JANUARY 2008 (TO FOLLOW)

The Mayor agreed to the admission of this Item as urgent business. Due to the very short timescale between the last meeting and the despatch date of the summons for this meeting, it had not been possible to circulate the minutes with the Summons, and that minutes should be confirmed at the next available Council meeting.

Copies of the Minutes had been TABLED, and they were taken as read.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 21 January 2008 be signed as a true record.

CNCL82. TO RECEIVE SUCH COMMUNICATIONS AS THE MAYOR MAY LAY BEFORE THE COUNCIL

	The Mayor congratulated Haringey's Planning Department who received an award from the Mayor of London. The commendation was for the Tottenham Hale Master Plan. Haringey came 2 nd behind the Kings Cross Development.	
	 The Mayor thanked all the Officers and Members for their work in organising four events to mark this year's Holocaust Memorial. The Kindertransport Exhibition would remain in the Wood Green Library until the 24th February, and the Mayor urged Members to make time to visit this they had not already done so. 	
CNCL83.	TO RECEIVE THE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE	
	RESOLVED	
	That the appointment of John Suddaby as Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer with effect from 14 January 2008 be noted.	
	That the appointment by the Licensing Committee of Councillor Dodds to a vacancy on its Licensing Sub-Committee C (arising from the resignation of Councillor Dobbie) be noted.	
CNCL84.	TO RECEIVE THE REPORTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER AND	
	HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES There were no matters to report.	
CNCL85.	TO MAKE APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES	
	There were no matters to report.	
CNCL86.	TO CONSIDER REQUESTS TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS AND/OR PETITIONS AND, IF APPROVED, TO RECEIVE THEM There were no deputations or petitions.	
CNCL87.	TO CONSIDER A "STATE OF THE BOROUGH" REPORT BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL.	
	The Leader of the Council, Councillor George Meehan, gave the following "State of the Borough" address:	
	Mr Mayor, fellow Councillors, Chief Executive, Officers, ladies and gentlemen, I am proud to stand before you once again in this chamber as Leader of this Labour administration, to report on the state of the	

borough at the end of this municipal year.

Mr Mayor, Haringey today is a place where people from all corners of the world can find a welcome and become part of our community. We are one of the most diverse communities in the country, if not in Europe, but we are a cohesive borough, where eight out of 10 of our residents agree that people from different backgrounds get on well together.

In a time of continuing tension worldwide, with communities too often divided on religious or ethnic lines, this is a considerable achievement.

And it is an achievement which has not come about by accident. It is the result of our continuing commitment as a Council to equality, to listening to all our people, and to acting in the interests of all.

Mr Mayor, I was forcefully reminded of that commitment in October, when the eyes of the world were on us as we celebrated the life and achievements of one of our most famous residents, Oliver Tambo.

On that day I had the privilege of unveiling the memorial at Albert Road Recreation Ground, with the First Lady of South Africa Mrs Mbeki, the Secretary of State for Justice Jack Straw, members of the Tambo family, and other dignitaries from home and abroad.

Mr Mayor, the Tambo family came to Haringey to escape persecution, and found a community that embraced them and supported their struggle. And many families over the years have made that same journey, to find a welcoming home in our borough.

In celebrating the life of Oliver Tambo on that wonderful day in October, we and our people were re-affirming our values of equality and fairness for all.

Those are the values that underpin our commitment as a Council, and we will continue to assert those values as we move forward, working together with all our people, and with our partners.

We can improve services and meet the needs of all our residents better by harnessing our resources and the resources of our partners so we move forward together. Maintaining the strong effective partnerships we enjoy with public bodies and private organisations, is an important priority for this council.

That is the way, Mr Mayor, that we will deliver the best possible services for our residents: in partnership. Formally co-ordinating our work and pooling our resources through the Haringey Strategic Partnership - and informally, on a daily basis with residents, community groups, businesses and other public authorities.

And equality is of course central to our Partnership vision, to make Haringey a place for diverse communities that people are proud to belong to.

To that end, on March 3rd this year, I will launch a new, borough-wide Social Cohesion Forum – where people across our communities can meet, talk to each other, and to the council and other agencies, understand their differences and their similarities, and their shared rights and responsibilities as citizens of Haringey.

Mr Mayor, this new forum will again put Haringey at the forefront of local authorities meeting the challenges of our constantly changing society.

Because in Haringey, as in the country as a whole, we face big challenges – climate change, global competition, the rising aspirations of individuals, caring for and protecting our young and our older people, and the desire for stronger, safer more sustainable communities.

It is these challenges we set out to tackle when we successfully put ourselves forward for re-election in 2006, on a clear platform:

Our children achieving more;

Our council tax low and stable;

Our streets bright and clean;

Our communities safer;

Our environment greener

Our young people respected and included.

Mr Mayor, I can report today, some two years into our administration, that we are successfully putting our pledges into action.

Mr Mayor, before I look in detail at our achievements, I have some good news on investment – news which will transform the quality of life of many thousands of our residents.

Mr Mayor, in the last few days we have received confirmation that we have won some £200 million in funding under the Decent Homes programme, to transform our council housing and make it fit for the 21st century.

Mr Mayor, we pledged that we would deliver these improvements for our tenants, and we will do so.

On top of this money, we are already moving ahead with £178 million investment in our secondary schools under the Building Schools for the Future programme.

We have an £18 million programme to deliver our network of children's centres, and we are actively winning money for our parks and opens spaces – almost £3 million to transform Markfield Park, for example.

And our plans to regenerate our under-used sites in Tottenham Hale and the Haringey Heartlands, developing much-needed new housing and creating new jobs for our people will attract even more investment, private and public, to benefit our communities.

Mr Mayor, in total we are looking at a billion pounds of investment in Haringey over the coming years.

This is the result of our commitment, working to deliver the pledges we made.

Mr Mayor, for us on this side of the Chamber, these pledges are not plucked out of the air, to get a headline, or because they are the latest bandwagon to jump on.

We consult seriously; we listen to local people; we take mature decisions; and we deliver.

And Mr Mayor, I can announce today that our performance in delivering the improvements local people want and deserve has been clearly recognised by local people in our latest residents' survey:

Let me give you some headlines:

70 per cent of residents now say the Council is making the area a better place to live – significantly above the results for London as a whole.

70 per cent of residents say the Council is doing a good job – up six per cent, and three per cent better than in London as a whole.

The number of residents saying the Council is efficient and well-run is up by 10 per cent.

The number of residents saying that the Council provides value for money is up by eight per cent.

And the number of residents saying that the Council listens to their concerns is up four per cent and now eight per cent higher than in London as a whole.

These figures are proof again that we are listening, and delivering.

Mr Mayor, may I now remind the Council of what we have achieved over the past year.

We said our children would achieve more, in line with the aspirations of our people:

Our young people's GCSE results continue to improve year on year at more than twice the national rate, with 56.2 per cent of pupils achieving five or more A star to C grades in 2007.

We are closing the gap between east and west, we are closing the gap between minority ethnic and White UK pupils, and we have boosted the GCSE performance of our looked after children to more than two and half times the national average.

Our new Sixth Form Centre opened on time and on budget in September, the first outcome of our planned investment of £178 million in secondary education.

This spectacular new Centre is already helping our young people to improve their skills and realise their potential. Mr Mayor I am proud to report to the Council that since it opened the numbers of our young people not in education, training or employment have reduced by almost a third, from 14 per cent to 10 .4 per cent.

Our bid to open a new comprehensive community school for the Haringey Heartlands was successful, and that is a major tribute to our ability as a Local Education Authority to deliver high-quality education for the 21st century. The school is scheduled to open in 2010.

We are on track to provide 18 children's centres by September – an investment of £18 million providing one of the most extensive networks of children's centres in the country.

I can announce that an extra £800,000 funding will be available for youth work in Haringey over the coming year, thanks to additional money from the Mayor of London. It is my intention that all of this money will be spent on improving youth provision.

We listen – and we act.

Mr Mayor, we said we would deliver the stable budget and low Council Tax that local people want.

Today I can announce that the proposals we will put to the Council later this month for the 2008/9 budget will again see a Council Tax increase of no more than three per cent – or 63 pence a week for a Band D taxpayer – and a prudent, balanced budget delivering value for money and investment in key priorities.

We listen – and we deliver.

Mr Mayor, we said that our streets would be brighter and cleaner, and our communities safer, two of the top priorities for our residents.

The percentage of streets with unacceptable levels of litter has halved in the last year, and we have issued more than 1,000 penalty notices for flytipping, littering and dumping.

Through popular schemes like Clean Sweep, encouraging local people and businesses to join with us in cleaning up their neighbourhood, and initiatives like our new litter-picking service, we continue to improve our streets.

Mr Mayor, I can also announce today that in response to our extensive Road to Improvement consultation, we are putting an extra £500,000 into repairing and resurfacing our roads -£300k capital and £200k

revenue.

We listen to our residents – and we deliver.

On crime, Mr Mayor, the figures show that reported crime in the borough has fallen for the third year in a row, and our people feel safer than before, and over the last year there has been a 20% reduction in personal crime in the borough.

Every ward has a Safer Neighbourhood policing team, and council staff as well as ward councillors work closely with these teams to identify and tackle local issues.

Every secondary school has a Safer Schools officer, and we have actively extended our services for young people, particularly in the school holidays.

None of the progress we have made could have been achieved without the help and hard work of the Met Police. We have a close relationship which benefits us both. Mr Mayor, this is a challenging area, and despite the reductions, crime remains a serious issue. We continue to find new ways to move forward with our partners.

We have extended and improved our network of CCTV cameras.

Our Anti-Social Behaviour Action Team has launched parenting support for challenging families and is pioneering estate-based work, including our first ever Good Neighbour agreement.

On the issue of domestic violence, as I promised last year, we have introduced a free night time helpline service, and before Christmas our unique Hearthstone centre received a major award for its work from the Mayor of London.

Again Mr Mayor, we are listening, and we are delivering – and we will continue to do all we can to make our borough safer.

We said we would act to make our environment greener.

Mr Mayor, recycling rates in Haringey are now at record levels. From April to December last year we recycled 25.4% of our household waste – above the London average, and we will be extending recycling facilities in the coming year so that everyone will be able to recycle as easily as possible. We are also making excellent progress in decreasing the amount of waste we send to landfill.

We are the joint London leader for Green Flags for our parks, with eight awards, judged by independent assessors.

And we have more school travel plans than any other London borough, helping our children get to and from school safely, improving their health and the environment.

We were one of the first councils in the country to introduce residents' parking charges based on carbon emissions.

We carried out a pioneering aerial survey of heat loss across the borough, and we are following that up with targeted work to help local people reduce their heating costs.

Mr Mayor, I am proud to announce that through this work we expect to help more than 1,600 residents on low incomes with their heating costs – tackling fuel poverty and climate change at the same time. This has been achieved through the 'Warm Front' scheme, run with British Gas, yet another example of the close partnerships we have with both public and private bodies.

And on climate change we are leading by example, with a far-reaching staff travel plan to cut down on car use and encourage environmentally friendly travel alternatives.

Again, Mr Mayor, we listen – and we deliver.

We said that our young people would be respected and included.

I'm proud to report that our Youth Council has gone from strength to strength, and that young people across the borough are now having a say about services that affect them and playing a full part in our community.

I would like to highlight in particular the Youth Council's campaign on bullying, "Make Bullying History", which was launched with a march and rally in November, attended by pupils from across our secondary schools.

Organised by the young people themselves, the event included presentations, theatre, music, talks and discussion, and is now being followed up with a poster and leaflet campaign in schools.

For me, this was a moving example of children and young people taking up a serious issue, and at the same time celebrating the shared positive values of young people from different backgrounds and cultures in Haringey.

Young people are our future, and we owe it to them to work together for that future to be safe and sustainable.

Mr Mayor, there is more:

We have a new regeneration strategy, around the theme of People, Places and Prosperity, looking to move ahead with our plans to bring much needed homes and jobs through developing our major sites, and getting our people into productive work through the innovative Haringey Guarantee scheme.

Our libraries have gone from strength to strength, with the opening of a new gallery at Hornsey, and Wood Green library recently confirmed as one of the 10 busiest in the country.

We are an award-winning Council – a national award for our WOW scheme recognising excellent customer service, the Most Improved Transport Borough in London award, our Domestic Violence award I've already mentioned, a Cemetery of the Year award for Wood Green, and others too numerous to mention.

Internally, we were proud to receive whole council Investors in People re-accreditation, against tougher criteria, for our training and management of staff, and we were the first London borough to receive the Member Development Charter, for our member learning and development programme.

Mr Mayor, this Council has proved its commitment to maintaining Alexandra Palace for the benefit of the people of Haringey and beyond over many years.

We have supported the Palace financially, and we have worked hard to find appropriate ways to generate the massive investment needed to secure its future – and shift the burden from the taxpayer.

We will consider very carefully the way forward, and we will continue to work in the interests of preserving the Palace and its unique facilities for generations to come, while at the same time working to shift burden from the taxpayer.

To those who have opposed these plans, and to Members opposite who predictably say one thing in one meeting, and another thing publicly, but never anything constructive, I make no apologies in saying: Now is the time to start living in the real world.

Mr Mayor, I hope you will agree that the achievements I have outlined here indicate clearly that we are listening, and we are delivering.

So, Mr Mayor, it has been a good year for Haringey – a year of achievement, of pledges fulfilled. I fully expect it to be yet again confirmed by the audit commission that we are a three star council and improving well.

As I said earlier though, we face many challenges. Some of our wards remain among the most deprived in the country, and we need to plan our resources carefully and make the most of all our opportunities over the coming period, so that we can deliver a sustainable future for the whole of Haringey.

I believe that today we have the solid basis, of strength in diversity, to make the progress we need – and that this administration – experienced, committed, in touch with the needs and aspirations of all our people –

can take us forward. We listen, and we deliver.

The Leader of the Opposition spoke in response.

RESOLVED:

That the Leader of the Council's "State of the Borough" report be received and agreed.

CNCL88. TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM THE FOLLOWING BODIES

The Mayor agreed to the admission of the TABLED Overview and Scrutiny Committee report as urgent business. The report was not available at the time of despatch as the meeting was not held until 31January 2008.

Councillor Adje introduced the Cabinet Report 8-2007/08 – Financial Planning 2008/09 to 2010/11. A debate ensued and other Members contributed to the discussion.

On a VOTE there being 29 for, and 19 against, it was

RESOLVED:

That report 8 /2007-8 of the Cabinet be received and adopted and that the following recommendations contained in the appendix to report number 8 be agreed:

- 1. To agree the changes and variations set out at paragraph 9.3 and appendix B of the report.
- 2. To note the outcome of the consultation processes set out at paragraph 11 of the report.
- 3. To agree the new investment proposals set out in appendix D of the report.
- 4. To agree the revised and new savings proposals set out in appendix E of the report.
- 5. To approve the approach and provision for redundancies as set out in paragraph 13.5 of the report.
- 6. To agree the proposals for the children's services (DSG) budget set out in appendix F of the report.
- 7. To agree the proposals for the HRA budget set out in appendix G of the report.
- 8. To approve the housing rent increase at an average of £4.77 per week (6.5%) and that this element of the budget

package be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for comment.

- 9. To approve the housing service charge increase at an average of £2.55 per week.
- 10. To agree the proposals for the capital programme and funding set out in appendices H and J and the capital resource allocation policy at appendix I of the report.
- 11. To agree the treasury management strategy and policy and prudential limits set out in appendix K of the report.
- 12. To agree the proposed general fund budget requirement of £399.578m, subject to the decisions of precepting and levying authorities, and the consequences for council tax levels.
- 13. To note that the final decision on budget and council tax for 2008/09 will be made at the Council meeting on 18 February.

Councillor Egan (in the absence of Councillor Bull) introduced the TABLED Overview and Scrutiny Committee report no 3. Following some clarifications it was agreed to receive the report and its contents.

RESOLVED

That the report no. 3 of the special meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 31 January 2008 be received and noted.

COUNCILLOR SHEIK THOMPSON

Mayor